Georgia State University ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Respiratory Therapy Theses

Department of Respiratory Therapy

5-10-2021

Comparison Of Different Exhalation Filters In Protection Against Fugitive Aerosol During Nebulizer Treatments: An In-vitro Study

Li Sheng Chen

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/rt_theses

Recommended Citation

Chen, Li Sheng, "Comparison Of Different Exhalation Filters In Protection Against Fugitive Aerosol During Nebulizer Treatments: An In-vitro Study." Thesis, Georgia State University, 2021. doi: https://doi.org/10.57709/22528321

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Respiratory Therapy at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Respiratory Therapy Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

PROTECTION AGAINST FUGITIVE AEROSOL AMONG EXHALATION FILTERS

COMPARISON OF DIFFERENT EXHALATION FILTERS IN PROTECTION AGAINST FUGITIVE AEROSOL DURING NEBULIZER TREATMENTS: AN IN-VITRO STUDY

By

Li-Sheng Chen

A Thesis

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of Requirements for the

Degree of Master of Science In Health Sciences In the Department of Respiratory Therapy

Under the supervision of Dr. Douglas S. Gardenhire

in

Byrdine F. Lewis College of Nursing and Health Professions

Georgia State University

Atlanta, Georgia 2021

AUTHOR'S STATEMENT

In presenting this thesis as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the advanced degree from Georgia State University, I agree that the library of Georgia State University shall make it available for inspection and circulation in accordance with its regulations governing materials of this type. I agree that permission to quote, to copy from, or to publish this thesis may be granted by the professor under whose direction it was written, by the Byrdine F. Lewis School of Nursing & Health Professions director of graduate studies and research, or by me. Such quoting, copying, or publishing must be solely for scholarly purposes and will not involve potential financial gain. It is understood that any copying from or publication of this thesis, which involves potential financial gain, will not be allowed without my written permission.

Author

Li-Sheng Chen

NOTICE TO BORROWER

All these deposited in the Georgia State University Library must be used in accordance with

stipulations prescribed by the author in the preceding statement. The author of this thesis is:

Li-Sheng Chen

2758 Willowstone Drive

Duluth, GA 30096

The director of this thesis is:

OR COPYING

Douglas S. Gardenhire, Ed.D, RRT, RRT-NPS, FAARC

Governor's Teaching Fellow

Chair and Clinical Professor

Byrdine F. Lewis School of Nursing and Health Professions

Department of Respiratory Therapy

Georgia State University

P.O. Box4019

Atlanta, GA 30302-4019

Users of this thesis not regularly enrolled as students of Georgia State University are required to attest acceptance of the preceding stipulation by signing below. Libraries borrowing this thesis for the use of their patrons are required to see that each user records here the information requested:

NAME OF USER.	ADDRESS DATE
TYPE OF USE	(EXAMINATION ONLY

VITA

Li-Sheng Chen

ADDRESS: 2758 Willowstone Drive

Duluth, GA 30096

EDUCATION:

BS. RT 2018 Chang Gung University

Department of Respiratory Therapy

Taoyuan City, Taiwan

EXPERIENCES: Clinical rotations:

Northside Atlanta (2021 Spring)

Children's Healthcare of Atlanta - Scottish Rite Hospital (2020 Fall)

Piedmont Physicians Pulmonary and Sleep Medicine Buckhead (2020 Summer)

Emory University Hospital Midtown (2020 Spring)

Taipei MacKay Memorial Hospital (2017 Fall - 2018 Spring)

Chang-Geng Medical Foundation Linkou Chang-Geng Hospital (2017 Fall)

Landseed International Hospital (2017 Fall)

Chang-Geng Medical Foundation Keelung Chang-Geng Hospital (2017 Spring)

Xizhi Cathay General Hospital (2016 Summer)

LICENSES: Registered Respiratory Therapist (2018-Present)

COURSES AND CONFERENCES:

2021 Lewis College Graduate Research Conference

COMPARISON OF DIFFERENT EXHALATION FILTERS IN PROTECTION AGAINST FUGITIVE AEROSOL DURING NEBULIZER TREATMENTS: AN IN-VITRO STUDY

By

Li-Sheng Chen

(Under the Direction of Dr. Douglas S. Gardenhire)

ABSTRACT

Background: Aerosol escaping to the environment during nebulization treatments is called fugitive aerosol. Placing a filter at the exhalation outlet is one way to prevent unintended inhalation of fugitive aerosol by healthcare providers. Aim: To determine the best exhalation filter in preventing fugitive aerosol from escaping to the environment.

Methods: Three brands of exhalation filters were tested in our study, the Westmed filter, Airlife filter, and Microgard filter. They were attached at the exhalation outlet of the Circulaire II nebulizer with a collection filter sitting right after. Each filter was nebulized for three consecutive tests before being discarded. For each test, albuterol (2.5 mg/0.5 ml equivalent to 3 mg of albuterol sulfate) was nebulized to a simulated breathing adult patient (VT 500 ml, RR 15 BPM) by a flowmeter powered with 8 LPM for five minutes. After completion of each test, the collection filter was rinsed and gently stirred with 0.1N of HCl before being analyzed by a spectrophotometry device for the determination of fugitive dose. **Results:** All types of exhalation filters allowed less than 0.4% of the nominal dose to escaped for each nebulization test. There were no differences in fugitive dose between each exhalation filter within the three nebulization tests (p > 0.05), and the average of the three tests (p > 0.05). There was also no difference in fugitive dose between each test for the same type of exhalation filter (p > 0.05).

Conclusion: Regardless of the exhalation filter tested, all offer similar protection against fugitive aerosol for the first three nebulization treatments.

DEDICATION

I'm grateful for everything happening in my life. After the intense 2 years of the Integrated Master program for Respiratory Therapy, I'm finally graduating. I want to thank my family members for supporting me fully day and night. I also want to thank Ting-Hui Lin for being there whenever I'm stressed or burned out. Finally, I want to thank all my friends who have helped me and lend me hands throughout the program. We may not forever be together, but our memories will.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I greatly appreciate Dr. Douglas Gardenhire for all his support since I was still in Taiwan. He was always helpful and quick to respond to my concerns. I'll never forget the day he stayed in the aerosol lab with me, just to make sure our experiment goes well and smoothly. I sincerely thank him for all his time and knowledge given to me. I would like to thank Dr. Rachel Culbreth and Dr. Kyle Brandenberger for guiding me on statistical analysis. Finally, I would like to thank Dr. Douglas Gardenhire, Dr. Chip Zimmerman, and Dr. Kyle Brandenberger for attending my Master's Final Defense while providing excellent comments and suggestions.

Li-Sheng Chen

Spring 2021

Table of Contents

CHAPTER I1
INTRODUCTION1
THE STATEMENT OF THE QUESTION1
THE RATIONALE
THE HYPOTHESIS
СНАРТЕК П
BACKGROUND4
СНАРТЕК Ш
RESEARCH DESIGN
NEBULIZERS AND DRUG8
EXHALATION FILTERS
SIMULATED PATIENT MODEL9
VARIABLES
SETTINGS10
EXPERIMENT PROTOCOL10
DATA COLLECTION
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS12
DATA MANAGEMENT AND STORAGE
CHAPTER IV14
COMPARISON OF FUGITIVE DOSE IN EACH TEST BETWEEN EXHALATION
COMPARISON OF MEAN FUCITIVE DOSE RETWEEN EVHALATION FULTEDS 14
COMDADISON OF FILME DOSE DETWEEN EACH TEST FOR THE SAME
FILTER TYPE

CHAPTER V	17
DISCUSSION	17
CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS	19
SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	20
LIMITATION	20
CONCLUSION	20
REFERENCE	22
APPENDICES	32

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Respiratory therapists (RTs) are the most crucial healthcare workers for treating patients with respiratory-related diseases. They're trained to perform various therapies to aid patients in recovery, and delivering aerosolized treatments through nebulizers is the most common of all. While aerosolizing medications alleviate the burden of diseases for patients, healthcare workers like RTs on the other hand might potentially be harmed by unexpected exposure to them. This has always been a concern in nebulizer treatments, and methods to reduce the exposure to healthcare workers are always of interest.

THE STATEMENT OF THE QUESTION

There have been several proposed routes to reduce accidental inhalation of aerosolized drugs in different scenarios(Ari et al., 2016; James A. McGrath, O'Sullivan, et al., 2019; Tsai et al., 2015; Bart P.H. Wittgen et al., 2006), one of which is to insert a filter at the expiration port connected to a nebulizer and patient interface in simulated spontaneously breathing patients(James A. McGrath, O'Sullivan, et al., 2019). While this method looks promising, our next question is, what kind of exhalation filter protects healthcare workers best? Thus, the purpose of this study is to compare different brands of exhalation filters in preventing aerosolized drugs from contaminating the environment.

THE RATIONALE

The discussion on the occupational hazard of providing aerosol treatments has been extensively studied(Ari et al., 2016; Croteau et al., 2004; Elmashae et al., 2019; Ishau et al., 2020; James A. McGrath, O'Sullivan, et al., 2019; James A. McGrath, O'Toole, et al., 2019; O'Riordan & Smaldone, 1992; Saeed et al., 2017; Tsai et al., 2015; Bart P.H. Wittgen et al., 2006). Aerosol escaping to the environment either from the nebulizer or the patient is called fugitive aerosol. It is imperative to protect healthcare workers from inhaling fugitive aerosol containing drugs that could cause undesired side effects and the risk of developing asthma(Christiani & Kern, 1993). Especially in times like this with the pandemic of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID19), people now seek maximum protection from hazardous aerosol more than ever. Healthcare workers not only have to worry about being exposed to aerosolized drugs, but they also have to worry about fugitive aerosol contaminated with COVID19 from the patient. There are proposed guidelines on how to safely deliver aerosol treatments to COVID19 patients, and they recommended attaching the exhalation filter to prevent contamination of the environment(Ari, 2020; Benge & Barwise, 2020). The effort of those guidelines along with previous studies is to provide healthcare workers more information about the risk of fugitive aerosol and how to prevent them, hence, knowing which type of exhalation filter that provides the most protection will prove beneficial.

THE HYPOTHESIS

We hypothesize that different brands of exhalation filters will have varying protection against fugitive aerosol during nebulizer treatments in spontaneously breathing patients. The purpose of this in-vitro study is to compare different brands of exhalation filters in protecting against fugitive dose generated by nebulizers in a simulated spontaneously breathing adult lung model.

CHAPTER II

BACKGROUND

Aerosol treatments have been used to deliver extensive varieties of drugs to patients with pulmonary conditions. From simple bland aerosol treatment to aerosolized bronchodilators and antibiotics, they are all meant to alleviate burdens of pulmonary diseases from the patient. The benefits of delivering aerosolized drugs to patients are faster onset on targeted organs and lower systemic effects. Respiratory therapists (RTs) are experts in utilizing different kinds of nebulizers that would deliver particle size mainly between 1 to 8 μ m and resolve a variety of respiratory-related issues(Wang et al., 2017).

While most studies are interested in drug deposition to the patient during aerosol treatments, few have examined that did not. Aerosol generated by a nebulizer that escaped from the nebulizing system or failed to deposit in the respiratory tract and exhaled to the environment is called the fugitive aerosol. When unintentionally inhaled by bystanders such as RTs, it might cause deleterious side effects and increase the risk of developing occupational asthma accompany by familial economic crisis(Barnes et al., 1996; Blanc et al., 1999, 2003; Weiss et al., 1992). Many factors dictate the amount of fugitive aerosol contaminating the environment and threatening the health of bystanders during nebulizer treatments. Context-related key factors include interzonal airflow rate, external airflow rate, air-exchange rate, deposition rate,

5

particle resuspension, and particle coagulation(He et al., 2005; J.A. McGrath et al., 2014a, 2014b; W. W. Nazaroff, 2004; William W Nazaroff, 2016). Nebulizer and patient-related key factors include nebulizer types, nebulizing durations, supplemental gas flow rate, patient interface, distance from the nebulizing source, and fill volume inside nebulizer(Elmashae et al., 2019; James A. McGrath, O'Sullivan, et al., 2019; James A. McGrath, O'Toole, et al., 2019; Rau et al., 2004; Saeed et al., 2017).

The topic of fugitive aerosol harming healthcare workers has always been concerning either in hospital or home care settings. Aerosolized drugs such as Pentamidine, ribavirin, Adeno-associated virus serotype 2 vector containing cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator complementary DNA, sustained-release lipid inhalation targeting cisplatin, and glutaraldehyde have all been highlighted as they are associated with occupational hazards when healthcare workers are exposed to their fugitive aerosol(Croteau et al., 2004; Dimich-Ward et al., 2004; McDiarmid et al., 1992, 1993; O'Riordan & Smaldone, 1992; Tsai et al., 2015; B. P.H. Wittgen et al., 2007). In addition to harmful drugs escaping to the environment with fugitive infectious influenza, aerosol, pathogens like mycobacterium tuberculosis, and severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus could also be transmitted through escaping aerosol during common oxygen therapies(Simonds et al., 2010; Tran et al., 2012). Patients in severe respiratory failure requiring invasive mechanical ventilation have compromised upper airway due to the insertion of an endotracheal tube. They

are more susceptible to lower respiratory tract infection and have the potential to spread pathogens like gram-positive bacterias, gram-negative bacterias, viruses or fungi from their lungs to the ventilator circuit, then to the environment (da Silveira et al., 2019; Jaiswal et al., 2018; Kelly et al., 2016; Mitchell et al., 2018; Nazareth et al., 2020; Picazo et al., 2020; Sommerstein et al., 2019; Tsakiridou et al., 2018, p.; Zakharkina et al., 2017).

Recently, a global outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID19) has struck the world off guard. The pathogen is transmitted through droplet and airborne(Y. Liu et al., 2020), which means patients with COVID19 needing aerosol treatments could contaminate the environment with COVID19 pathogen, carried by fugitive aerosol increasing the risk of healthcare workers being infected when rendering care. To make matter worse, shortage of N95 masks has taken a toll on healthcare providers worldwide, thus, some have proposed attaching filters onto commercially available elastomeric respirators to substitute N95 masks(D. C. Y. Liu et al., 2020). There are also guidelines proposed on how to safely deliver nebulizer treatments to COVID19 patients, and putting an exhalation filter at the expiratory port is one of the options(Ari, 2020; Benge & Barwise, 2020; Fink et al., 2020; Respiratory Care Committee of Chinese Thoracic Society, 2020). All the efforts mentioned above are to protect healthcare workers from inhaling fugitive aerosols containing COVID19 when providing therapies like aerosol treatment. This concept is similar to other studies showing less fugitive aerosol spreading to the environment when a filter is placed at the exhalation limb of a ventilator circuit (Ari et al., 2016; O'Toole et al., 2020) or the exhalation port of a breathing system intended for nebulizer treatments (Mac Giolla Eain et al., 2021; James A. McGrath, O'Sullivan, et al., 2019), it minimizes secondary exposure to unintended personnel.

The idea of having an exhalation filter sit at the expiratory port to prevent fugitive aerosol sounds promising. To the best of our knowledge, limited data have compared different kinds of exhalation filter in their ability to minimize secondary exposure during nebulizer treatments, thus, the purpose of this article is to compare different exhalation filters in their efficiency to stop fugitive aerosol from contaminating the environment with commonly seen nebulizers in simulated spontaneously breathing patients.

CHAPTER III

RESEARCH DESIGN

This is an original article conducted in the form of a bench study. The main objective was to describe different brands of exhalation filters in their efficiency to prevent fugitive aerosol from escaping to the environment during aerosol treatments. No human subject was involved in the study, thus, no institutional review board approval was needed prior.

NEBULIZERS AND DRUG

Circulaire II available on the market of the United States (Westmed, Tucson, AZ, USA) was utilized in the study (Figure 1). Albuterol (2.5mg/3 ml, equivalent to 3mg of albuterol sulfate) (Nephron Pharmaceuticals Corporation, West Columbia, SC, USA), a common bronchodilator in clinical was the drug of choice to be nebulized.

EXHALATION FILTERS

We tested 3 different exhalation filters in this study (Figure 1). The Westmed filter (Westmed, Tucson, AZ, USA) that comes with the Circulaire II package, the AirLife filter (CareFusion, Yorba Linda, CA, USA), and the MicroGard filter (CareFusion Germany, Hoechberg, Bavaria, Germany). Exhalation filters from different brands were attached appropriately to the exhalation outlet of Circulaire II, followed by a collecting filter (CareFusion, Yorba Linda, CA, USA) placed directly after the tested exhalation filter. Aerosolized albuterol caught in the collecting filter represented fugitive aerosol that bypassed the exhalation filter and into the environment. The peep valve of Circulaire II was not used in our study.

Figure 1

Exhalation filters and nebulizer tested



The three exhalation filters and nebulizer tested are shown above. A: Westmed filter; B: Airlife

filter; C: Microgard filter; D: Circulaire II

SIMULATED PATIENT MODEL

This study utilized an ASL5000 breathing simulator (IngMar Medical, Pittsburgh, PA, USA) to mimic healthy spontaneously breathing adult patients. The Circulaire II/exhalation

filter complex was connected to the ASL5000 with two protection filters (CareFusion, Yorba Linda, CA, USA) in between. The settings for the ASL5000 breathing simulator were respiratory rate 15 breaths per minute, tidal volume 500 ml, lung compliance 0.05 L/cmH20, and airway resistance 6 cmH20/L/sec.

VARIABLES

There was one independent variable in this study, the different brands of exhalation filter. There was one dependent variable, the fugitive dose, expressed as the percentage of the nominal dose administered to the nebulizer.

SETTINGS

The study was carried out in the Aerosol Research Laboratory located in the Department of Respiratory Therapy at Georgia State University, United States of America.

EXPERIMENT PROTOCOL

We utilized 3 identical but separate Circulaire II and exhalation filters of each type. Each exhalation filter was tested 3 times repeatability on each Circulaire II before being discarded, which resulted in 27 nebulization trials overall. For each trial, after proper Circulaire II/exhalation filter complex setup (Figure 2), albuterol sulfate solution was administered into the jet nebulizer of Circulaire II. The jet nebulizer was powered with 8 L/min of 100% oxygen flow from a flowmeter while simultaneously activating ASL5000 for 5 minutes. After 5

minutes, the collecting filter with albuterol sulfate deposited was rinsed with 10 ml of 0.1 N hydrochloric acid (JT Baker Company, Phillipsburg, NJ, USA). To ensure proper and balanced mixing, the solution was gently stirred for 3 minutes, then collected into a cuvette. A calibrated spectrophotometry device (Beckman Instruments, Fullerton, CA, USA) ultimately measured albuterol sulfate concentration in the cuvette using the wavelength of 273 nm. By utilizing the equation 0.173*absorbance*10/3, it will give us the amount of albuterol sulfate captured (in mg). Since each Circulaire II/exhalation filter experiment was repeated 3 times, and conducted on 3 separate Circulaire, it gave us 3 independent experiments (n=3).

Figure 2

Illustration of Circulaire II/exhalation filter setup



The experimental setup for A) Westmed filter, B) Airlife filter, and C) Microgard filter are

shown above.

DATA COLLECTION

Figure 3

Experimental outline for this study



A diagram showing the outline of experiments in the study

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The Statistical Package For The Social Sciences (SPSS) 27^{th} version (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA, 2020) was used for the analysis of the study. Utilizing descriptive analysis, the fugitive dose was expressed as the percentage ±SE of the nominal dose administered to the

nebulizer. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare differences in fugitive dose among different brands of exhalation filter, while repeated-measures ANOVA was used for the comparison of the same exhalation filter. The Bonferroni correction was used for the post-hoc test. A *p*-value of less than 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

DATA MANAGEMENT AND STORAGE

Study data collected were all stored in a computer database (SPSS). A codebook was created before data entry to ensure accurate and reliable study results. The computer used for data storage had restricted access strictly to researchers related to the study by passwords. The Data Management Advisory Team (DMAT) of Georgia State University was available during the time of study to assist in the protection and management of the data.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Table 1 shows the fugitive dose (mean±SE in percent of nominal dose) for each exhalation filter in each test and the average of 3 tests. Raw data for our study could be found in Supplemental Table 1 in appendices.

COMPARISON OF FUGITIVE DOSE IN EACH TEST BETWEEN EXHALATION FILTERS

To determine if there's a difference in filter protection efficiency after exposure to multiple nebulization tests (3 for this study), one-way ANOVA was utilized to compare the fugitive dose of each test between different brands of exhalation filter. The findings of this study showed no difference in the protection efficiency between exhalation filters during each nebulization test [F(2, 6) = 0.362, p=0.710, for 1st test] [F(2, 6) = 1.041, p=0.409, for 2nd test] [F(2, 6) = 4.436, p=0.066, for 3rd test].

COMPARISON OF MEAN FUGITIVE DOSE BETWEEN EXHALATION FILTERS

To contrast the overall protection efficiency of each exhalation filter, we calculated the mean fugitive dose for the 3 tests of each exhalation filter and utilized one-way ANOVA for comparison. Our results showed no difference in the overall protection efficiency between exhalation filters [F(2, 6) = 1.717, p=0.257].

COMPARISON OF FUGITIVE DOSE BETWEEN EACH TEST FOR THE SAME FILTER TYPE

Clinically, the same nebulizer/exhalation filter complex would be used several times before being discarded. To determine if the filter protection efficiency would differ after each nebulization test (up to 3 in this study), we utilized repeated-measure ANOVA. Our findings showed no difference in filter protection efficiency between each test for the same filter type [F(1, 2) = 3.441, p = 0.205, for Westmed filter] [F(2, 4) = 1.998, p = 0.250, for Airlife filter][F(2, 4) = 1.176, p = 0.397, for Microgard filter].

Table 1

Fugitive dose expressed in percent of nominal dose (mean±SE) for each type of exhalation

filter. The mean fugitive dose for	3 repeated tests c	of each filter is also cal	culated.
------------------------------------	--------------------	----------------------------	----------

Circulaire II				
Measurement Filter type	Fugitive dose on 1 st test	Fugitive dose on 2 nd test	Fugitive dose on 3 rd test	Mean fugitive dose
Westmed filter	0.19±0.1%	0.31±0.1%	0.34±0.1%	0.28±0.1%
Airlife filter	0.14±0.0%	0.24±0.1%	0.28±0.1%	0.22±0.1%
Microgard filter	0.17±0.0%	0.15±0.0%	0.14±0.0%	0.15±0.0%

Figure 4

Fugitive aerosol among three exhalation filters during each test run



Fugitive aerosol escaping to the environment among the three exhalation filters for each test run are shown above (error bars show ± 2 standard errors).

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

Patients have the right to receive proper treatments to ease the burden of diseases, while healthcare providers have the right to be free of harm during the process of delivering care, and that includes aerosol treatments. The idea of providing therapeutic aerosol to patients in need is justifiable, but how we protect bystanders such as RTs from fugitive aerosol remains a true question. We know placing an exhalation filter during nebulizer treatment would protect the surrounding environment from fugitive aerosol (Ari et al., 2016; Mac Giolla Eain et al., 2021; O'Toole et al., 2020), but different brands of exhalation filters would have varying protection efficiency, thus, this study intends to find the best exhalation filter regarding protection efficiency. According to our results, an average of less than 0.4% of albuterol nominal dose escaped to the environment for all types of tested exhalation filters during the first three nebulization trials. We demonstrated trends of increasing fugitive dose after each nebulization test for Westmed and Airlife filter, while Microgard presented the opposite, though all were not statistically significant (Table 1). After averaging the fugitive dose from three nebulization tests, the Westmed filter allowed almost twice the amount of fugitive aerosol to escaped comparing to the Microgard filter, again, it wasn't statistically significant (Table 1). To the best of our knowledge, no study that investigates the protection efficiency from aerosolized drugs

between different exhalation filters has been published so far, thus, we can not compare our results with other similar studies.

While most studies focus on the amount of aerosolized drug delivered to the patient, few have looked into the fugitive aerosol hazard. Interestingly, one study found around 30% of albuterol nominal doses escaped to the environment during jet nebulization therapy for spontaneously breathing patients without an exhalation filter in place (James A. McGrath, O'Sullivan, et al., 2019). Another study that utilized Circulaire II to nebulized albuterol also found around 12% of the nominal dose escaping to the environment without an exhalation filter at the exhalation outlet (Rau et al., 2004). Their results underline the importance of exhalation filters, which in our study, only less than 0.4% of nominal dose were allowed to escape with exhalation filter inserted, regardless of the type of exhalation filter.

According to different sources, the occupational exposure limit for albuterol stands between 2 mcg/day (Frank et al., 2019) to 10 mcg/8 hr (Nephron Pharmaceuticals, 2021). The observed fugitive aerosol for our study stands between 2.48 mcg to 14.5 mcg for each nebulization test, with an average of 4.6 mcg to 8.4 mcg overall throughout the 3 tested exhalation filters (Supplemental Table 1). These fugitive dosages are obtained right at the exhalation outlet of the Circulaire II, and there is a list of factors that would dictate the amount of accidental inhalation by healthcare workers nearby, such as context-related, nebulizerrelated, and patient-related key factors, as stated earlier (Elmashae et al., 2019; He et al., 2005; J.A. McGrath et al., 2014a; James A. McGrath, O'Toole, et al., 2019; W. W. Nazaroff, 2004; William W Nazaroff, 2016; Rau et al., 2004; Saeed et al., 2017). Since there were no differences in protection efficiency of the three tested exhalation filters for the first 3 nebulization run, the safest method to minimize occupational exposure to aerosolized drugs is simply ensuring the placement of an exhalation filter for every patient, regardless of type, and changing them every day for optimal protection efficiency as most patients would only need an average of 3 to 4 nebulization treatments per day.

CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

It is crucial to protect healthcare workers from inhaling excessive fugitive aerosol generated by nebulizer treatments, which is why it is vital to find the best exhalation filter that provides the most protection. This study demonstrated similar protection efficiency among the three tested exhalation filters during the first three nebulizer treatments for spontaneously breathing patients. Therefore, with the evidence provided by our study, it is safe to utilize any of the three tested exhalation filters without having to worry about inferior protection ability, given the filter is changed every day.

SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

Future studies should incorporate more brands of exhalation filters to compare, as our study only utilized three commonly seen ones in the USA market. More nebulization tests for each exhalation filter should be conducted to simulate the clinical scenarios of more severe patients, who would need more frequent aerosol treatments per day (i.e. more than three).

LIMITATION

Our study has several limitations. Since it is an in-vitro study, the data gathered can not fully represent the ever-changing clinical context. For instance, the simulated lung model can not represent a real patient with different breathing patterns, tidal volume, lung characteristics, or anatomy. Nebulizers and exhalation filters used in our study can not represent all other varieties in the market. Finally, results from utilizing albuterol sulfate in our study can not represent all other drug formulations, as different drugs have distinct aerosol dynamics.

CONCLUSION

The topic of occupational exposure to fugitive aerosol in healthcare environments has always been a concern. There are various methods to minimize fugitive aerosol, and placing a filter at the exhalation outlet of a nebulizer is one of them. According to our study results, there were no differences in the protection ability between the three tested filters within the first three nebulization tests and the average of them. Our findings also showed similar protection efficiency between each test run for the same type of exhalation filter. In conclusion, it is safe to utilize any of the three tested exhalation filters during aerosol treatments as they provide comparable protection against fugitive aerosol.

REFERENCE

Ari, A. (2020). Practical strategies for a safe and effective delivery of aerosolized medications to patients with COVID-19. *Respiratory Medicine*, *167*, 105987.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2020.105987

- Ari, A., Fink, J. B., & Pilbeam, S. P. (2016). Secondhand aerosol exposure during mechanical ventilation with and without expiratory filters: An in-vitro study. *Indian Journal of Respiratory Care*, 5(1), 7.
- Barnes, P. J., Jonsson, B., & Klim, J. B. (1996). The costs of asthma. *European Respiratory Journal*, 9(4), 636–642. <u>https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.96.09040636</u>
- Benge, C. D., & Barwise, J. A. (2020). Aerosolization of COVID-19 and Contamination Risks During Respiratory Treatments. *Federal Practitioner: For the Health Care Professionals of the VA, DoD, and PHS*, 37(4), 160–163.
- Blanc, P. D., Burney, P., Janson, C., & Torén, K. (2003). The prevalence and predictors of respiratory-related work limitation and occupational disability in an international study. *Chest*, 124(3), 1153–1159. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-3692(15)37681-9
- Blanc, P. D., Ellbjär, S., Janson, C., Norbäck, D., Norrman, E., Plaschke, P., & Torén, K. (1999). Asthma-related work disability in Sweden: The impact of workplace exposures. *American*

Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 160(6), 2028–2033.

https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.160.6.9901033

- Christiani, D. C., & Kern, D. G. (1993). Asthma risk and occupation as a respiratory therapist. 148, 4.
- Croteau, G. A., Martin, D. B., Camp, J., Yost, M., Conrad, C., Zeitlin, P. L., & Heald, A. E.
 (2004). Evaluation of exposure and health care worker response to nebulized administration of tgAAVCF to patients with cystic fibrosis. *The Annals of Occupational Hygiene*, *48*(8), 673–681. https://doi.org/10.1093/annhyg/meh066
- da Silveira, F., Nedel, W. L., Cassol, R., Pereira, P. R., Deutschendorf, C., & Lisboa, T. (2019).
 Acinetobacter etiology respiratory tract infections associated with mechanical ventilation:
 What impacts on the prognosis? A retrospective cohort study. *Journal of Critical Care*, 49, 124–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrc.2018.10.034
- Dimich-Ward, H., Wymer, M. L., & Chan-Yeung, M. (2004). Respiratory health survey of respiratory therapists. *Chest*, 126(4), 1048–1053. <u>https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.126.4.1048</u>
- Elmashae, Y., Yermakov, M., Frank, E., Benjamin, M., Maier, A., Newman, N., Reponen, T., & Grinshpun, S. A. (2019). Exposure of home-attending healthcare workers to aerosolized medications (simulation study). *Journal of Aerosol Science*, *133*, 49–55.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaerosci.2019.04.006

- Fink, J. B., Ehrmann, S., Li, J., Dailey, P., McKiernan, P., Darquenne, C., Martin, A. R., Rothen-Rutishauser, B., Kuehl, P. J., Häussermann, S., MacLoughlin, R., Smaldone, G. C., Muellinger, B., Corcoran, T. E., & Dhand, R. (2020). Reducing aerosol-related risk of transmission in the era of COVID-19: An interim guidance endorsed by the international society of aerosols in medicine. *Journal of Aerosol Medicine and Pulmonary Drug Delivery*, jamp.2020.1615. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/jamp.2020.1615</u>
- Frank, E., Ishau, S., Maier, A., Reutman, S., & Reichard, J. F. (2019). An occupational exposure limit (OEL) approach to protect home healthcare workers exposed to common nebulized drugs. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 106, 251–261.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yrtph.2019.04.021

He, C., Morawska, L., & Gilbert, D. (2005). Particle deposition rates in residential houses. *Atmospheric Environment*, *39*(21), 3891–3899.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2005.03.016

Ishau, S., Reichard, J. F., Maier, A., Niang, M., Yermakov, M., & Grinshpun, S. A. (2020). Estimated dermal exposure to nebulized pharmaceuticals for a simulated home healthcare worker scenario. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene*, *17*(4), 193–205. https://doi.org/10.1080/15459624.2020.1724297 Jaiswal, A., Chakraborti, A., Verma, P., & Singhal, R. (2018). A prospective study of fungal colonization and invasive fungal disease in long-term mechanically ventilated patients in a respiratory intensive care unit. *Indian Journal of Critical Care Medicine*, 22(8), 597–601.

https://doi.org/10.4103/ijccm.IJCCM_181_18

- Kelly, B. J., Imai, I., Bittinger, K., Laughlin, A., Fuchs, B. D., Bushman, F. D., & Collman, R. G. (2016). Composition and dynamics of the respiratory tract microbiome in intubated patients.
 Microbiome, 4(1), 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-016-0151-8</u>
- Liu, D. C. Y., Koo, T. H., Wong, J. K. K., Wong, Y. H., Fung, K. S. C., Chan, Y., & Lim, H. S. (2020). Adapting re-usable elastomeric respirators to utilise anaesthesia circuit filters using a 3D-printed adaptor a potential alternative to address N95 shortages during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Anaesthesia*, 75(8), 1022–1027. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.15108</u>
- Liu, Y., Ning, Z., Chen, Y., Guo, M., Liu, Y., Gali, N. K., Sun, L., Duan, Y., Cai, J., Westerdahl,
 D., Liu, X., Xu, K., Ho, K., Kan, H., Fu, Q., & Lan, K. (2020). Aerodynamic analysis of
 SARS-CoV-2 in two Wuhan hospitals. *Nature*, 582(7813), 557–560.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2271-3

Mac Giolla Eain, M., Joyce, M., O'Sullivan, A., McGrath, J. A., & MacLoughlin, R. (2021). An in vitro investigation into the release of fugitive medical aerosols into the environment during

manual ventilation. Journal of Hospital Infection, 108, 135–141.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2020.11.029

- McDiarmid, M. A., Fujikawa, J., Schaefer, J., Weinmann, G., Chaisson, R. E., & Hudson, C. A. (1993). Health effects and exposure assessment of aerosolized pentamidine handlers. *Chest*, *104*(2), 382–385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.104.2.382</u>
- McDiarmid, M. A., Schaefer, J., Richard, C. L., Chaisson, R. E., & Tepper, B. S. (1992). Efficacy of engineering controls in reducing occupational exposure to aerosolized pentamidine. *Chest*, 102(6), 1764–1766. <u>https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.102.6.1764</u>
- McGrath, J.A., Byrne, M. A., Ashmore, M. R., Terry, A. C., & Dimitroulopoulou, C. (2014a). A simulation study of the changes in PM2.5 concentrations due to interzonal airflow variations caused by internal door opening patterns. *Atmospheric Environment*, 87, 183–188.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2014.01.050

- McGrath, J.A., Byrne, M. A., Ashmore, M. R., Terry, A. C., & Dimitroulopoulou, C. (2014b).
 Development of a probabilistic multi-zone multi-source computational model and
 demonstration of its applications in predicting PM concentrations indoors. *Science of The Total Environment*, 490, 798–806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.05.081
- McGrath, James A., O'Sullivan, A., Bennett, G., O'Toole, C., Joyce, M., Byrne, M. A., &

MacLoughlin, R. (2019). Investigation of the quantity of exhaled aerosols released into the

environment during nebulisation. *Pharmaceutics*, 11(2), 75.

https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics11020075

- McGrath, James A., O'Toole, C., Bennett, G., Joyce, M., Byrne, M. A., & MacLoughlin, R.
 - (2019). Investigation of fugitive aerosols released into the environment during high-flow therapy. *Pharmaceutics*, *11*(6), 254. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics11060254
- Mitchell, A. B., Tang, B., Shojaei, M., Barnes, L. S., Nalos, M., Oliver, B. G., & McLean, A. S. (2018). A novel sampling method to detect airborne influenza and other respiratory viruses in mechanically ventilated patients: A feasibility study. *Annals of Intensive Care*, 8(1), 45.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13613-018-0396-4
- Nazareth, R., Chasqueira, M.-J., Rodrigues, M.-L., Paulino, C., Conceição, C., Lêdo, L., Segura, Ú., Santos, M., Messias, A., Póvoa, P., & Paixão, P. (2020). Respiratory viruses in mechanically ventilated patients: A pilot study. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, 20(1), 39.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12890-020-1082-5
- Nazaroff, W. W. (2004). Indoor particle dynamics. *Indoor Air*, *14*(s7), 175–183. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0668.2004.00286.x

Nazaroff, William W. (2016). Indoor bioaerosol dynamics. Indoor Air, 26(1), 61-78.

https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12174

Nephron Pharmaceuticals. (2021). Albuterol Sulfate Inhalation Solution 0.5% / Nephron Pharmaceuticals. <u>https://www.nephronpharm.com/products/albuterol-sulfate-inhalation-solution-05</u>

- O'Riordan, T. G., & Smaldone, G. C. (1992). Exposure of health care workers to aerosolized pentamidine. *Chest*, *101*(6), 1494–1499. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.101.6.1494
- O'Toole, C., McGrath, J. A., Joyce, M., Bennett, G., Byrne, M. A., & MacLoughlin, R. (2020). Fugitive aerosol therapy emissions during mechanical ventilation: In vitro assessment of the effect of tidal volume and use of protective filters. *Aerosol and Air Quality Research*, 20. <u>https://doi.org/10.4209/aaqr.2020.04.0176</u>
- Picazo, L., Gracia Arnillas, M. P., Muñoz-Bermúdez, R., Durán, X., Álvarez Lerma, F., & Masclans, J. R. (2020). Active humidification in mechanical ventilation is not associated to an increase in respiratory infectious complications in a quasi-experimental pre–post intervention study. *Medicina Intensiva (English Edition)*, S2173572720300801.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medine.2019.11.008

Rau, J. L., Ari, A., & Restrepo, R. D. (2004). Performance Comparison of Nebulizer Designs: Constant-Output, Breath-Enhanced, and Dosimetric. *RESPIRATORY CARE*, 49(2), 6.

Respiratory Care Committee of Chinese Thoracic Society. (2020). [Expert consensus on preventing nosocomial transmission during respiratory care for critically ill patients infected

by 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia]. *Zhonghua Jie He Hu Xi Za Zhi = Zhonghua Jiehe He Huxi Zazhi = Chinese Journal of Tuberculosis and Respiratory Diseases*, *43*(4), 288–296. https://doi.org/10.3760/cma.j.cn112147-20200304-00239

Saeed, H., Mohsen, M., Fink, J. B., Dailey, P., Salah Eldin, A., Abdelrahman, M. M., Elberry, A.
A., Rabea, H., Hussein, R. R. S., & Abdelrahim, M. E. A. (2017). Fill volume, humidification and heat effects on aerosol delivery and fugitive emissions during noninvasive ventilation. *Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology*, *39*, 372–378.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jddst.2017.04.026

Simonds, A., Hanak, A., Chatwin, M., Morrell, M., Hall, A., Parker, K., Siggers, J., & Dickinson, R. (2010). Evaluation of droplet dispersion during non-invasive ventilation, oxygen therapy, nebuliser treatment and chest physiotherapy in clinical practice: Implications for management of pandemic influenza and other airborne infections. *Health Technology Assessment*, 14(46). <u>https://doi.org/10.3310/hta14460-02</u>

Sommerstein, R., Merz, T. M., Berger, S., Kraemer, J. G., Marschall, J., & Hilty, M. (2019). Patterns in the longitudinal oropharyngeal microbiome evolution related to ventilatorassociated pneumonia. *Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control*, 8(1), 81. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13756-019-0530-6

- Tran, K., Cimon, K., Severn, M., Pessoa-Silva, C. L., & Conly, J. (2012). Aerosol generating procedures and risk of transmission of acute respiratory infections to healthcare workers: A systematic review. *PLoS ONE*, 7(4), e35797. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0035797</u>
- Tsai, R. J., Boiano, J. M., Steege, A. L., & Sweeney, M. H. (2015). Precautionary practices of respiratory therapists and other health-care practitioners who administer aerosolized medications. *Respiratory Care*, 60(10), 1409–1417. <u>https://doi.org/10.4187/respcare.03817</u>
- Tsakiridou, E., Mega, A.-M., Zakynthinos, E., Melissopoulou, T., Stamos, G., Argyriou, K., Pangrati, S., Deliolanis, I., & Floros, I. (2018). Pre-intensive care unit intubation and subsequent delayed intensive care unit admission is independently associated with increased occurrence of ventilator-associated pneumonia. *The Clinical Respiratory Journal*, 12(10), 2497–2504. https://doi.org/10.1111/crj.12944
- Wang, Y., Li, J., Leavey, A., O'Neil, C., Babcock, H. M., & Biswas, P. (2017). Comparative study on the size distributions, respiratory deposition, and transport of particles generated from commonly used medical nebulizers. *Journal of Aerosol Medicine and Pulmonary Drug Delivery*, 30(2), 132–140. https://doi.org/10.1089/jamp.2016.1340
- Weiss, K. B., Gergen, P. J., & Hodgson, T. A. (1992). An economic evaluation of asthma in the United States. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 326(13), 862–866.

https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199203263261304

Wittgen, B. P.H., Kunst, P. W. A., van der Born, K., van Wijk, A. W., Perkins, W., Pilkiewicz, F. G., Perez-Soler, R., Nicholson, S., Peters, G. J., & Postmus, P. E. (2007). Phase I study of aerosolized SLIT cisplatin in the treatment of patients with carcinoma of the lung. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *13*(8), 2414–2421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-1480</u>

Wittgen, Bart P.H., Kunst, P. W. A., Perkins, W. R., Lee, J. K., & Postmus, P. E. (2006). Assessing a system to capture stray aerosol during inhalation of nebulized liposomal cisplatin. *Journal of Aerosol Medicine*, 19(3), 385–391.

https://doi.org/10.1089/jam.2006.19.385

Zakharkina, T., Martin-Loeches, I., Matamoros, S., Povoa, P., Torres, A., Kastelijn, J. B., Hofstra, J. J., de Wever, B., de Jong, M., Schultz, M. J., Sterk, P. J., Artigas, A., & Bos, L. D. J. (2017). The dynamics of the pulmonary microbiome during mechanical ventilation in the intensive care unit and the association with occurrence of pneumonia. *Thorax*, 72(9), 803–810. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-209158</u>

APPENDICES

Supplemental Table 1

Raw data for our study. Fugitive doses in mg are shown for each exhalation filter in the

respective nebulization test and the average of 3 tests.

Filter type	Nebulizer number	Fugitive dose on 1 st test (mg)	Fugitive dose on 2 nd test (mg)	Fugitive dose on 3 rd test (mg)	Mean fugitive dose (mg)	
Westmed	1	.00548	.00750	.01223	.00840	
	2	.00934	.01453	.01084	.01157	0.008400111
	3	.00254	.00565	.00750	.00523	
Airlife	1	.00363	.00409	.00565	.00446	
	2	.00375	.01246	.01251	.00957	0.006612444
	3	.00531	.00508	.00704	.00581	
Microgard	1	.00611	.00657	.00421	.00563	
	2	.00323	.00248	.00294	.00288	0.004568481
	3	.00588	.00467	.00502	.00519	

Supplemental Figure 1



Fugitive aerosol among three exhalation filters during each test run

Error Bars: +/- 2 SE

Fugitive aerosol escaping to the environment among the three exhalation filters for each test

run are shown above (error bars show ± 2 standard errors).